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Chairman’s Report

At end June 2015, the LGAWCS has completed 29 years 
in an outstanding partnership with Councils across South 
Australia with continued excellent outcomes in reducing 
and managing workers compensation risks and delivering 
financial returns that other industries can only envy.

The LGAWCS is in a very sound financial position achieving 
Accumulated Surplus at June 2015 of $24.946m which 
allowed the Board to approve a Special Distribution to 
Members of $1.0m early in the coming year.  This Special 
Distribution, the third in the life of the LGAWCS, recognises 
the continuing maturity and success of the partnership.

Also at 30 June 2015, I completed 18 years in the role as 
Chairman for the LGAWCS having first joined the LGAWCS 
Board in September 1994. 

It is with considerable regret I relinquish this role which, 
at times has been challenging and testing, however, it has 
never failed to excite, embrace and achieve success.  In 1997 
I took over the Chairman role from Malcolm Germein, who 
as a statesman of Local Government was instrumental in its 
achievements of the mutual schemes in their formative years.  
Malcolm handed me the solid platform upon which I have 
had the opportunity to lead the LGAWCS to the outstanding 
success it is today. 

The aim for the LGAWCS remains unchanged - to provide 
a financially stable service that meets Members’ needs and 
embraces change while responding to the employee related 
risks within the Local Government sector under both the Work 
Health & Safety Act and the Return To Work Act. 

The LGAWCS has consistently delivered a balance of financial, 
risk and claims management services that underpin the 
breadth and depth of employee risk cover for all 68 Councils 
in South Australia, plus our Prescribed Body members. 

It goes without saying, that without the support of successive 
Boards and the sound management of the Scheme Manager, I 
could not have chaired the LGAWCS as effectively.

However none of this would have happened without the 

unquestionable support of every South Australian Council.  
We can never underestimate the power of mutuality and 
100% Council commitment to the LGAWCS, while voluntary, is 
a testament to this.

To leave the LGAWCS in such a competent position both from 
a financial and membership perspective gives me my greatest 
pleasure.

Financial Results: 

This is in addition to the current declared rebate to Members 
of $11.4m bringing the total rebate paid to Members to more 
than $50M in the past 5 years).  Further, the independent 
Actuary has estimated that LG has saved $247M through its 
own self-insured LGAWCS compared to being part of the 
WorkCover registered system.  

What an excellent initiative this Scheme has proven for Local 
Government. 

The Key Results for the 2014/15 Fund year include:   

• The lowest ever new claims (669), the first below 700 
in the year to June 30, and the seventh consecutive year that 
new claims have numbered <800.  I recall in the early 1990s 
that the new claims were in excess of 2200.

• Savings for LG from being self-insured of $16.1m in 
this current year.

• An average LGAWCS levy rate that is just over half the 
comparable WorkCover rate for LG.

• Member rebates of $11.4m, the seventh consecutive 
year in excess of $10m, and maintaining a longstanding 
average rebate around 38%.

Self-Insurance Licence Evaluation:  In September 2014, 
the Board was pleased to be advised by WorkCover that 
the LGAWCS & LG had been awarded a three year licence 
renewal, the maximum available.   All Council members of the 
LGAWCS are extremely appreciative of the major effort by the 
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twelve Councils in the 2014 Partnership Plan and especially 
the Barossa Council, Holdfast Bay Council and Alexandrina 
Council which along with the Scheme itself were individually 
evaluated to record that three year renewal on behalf of all 
LGAWCS Members.

WorkCover has recognised the commitment and effort that 
LG is investing into sustainable systems improvement.  I have 
every confidence that the path LG is now taking in this regard 
is sustainable and worthwhile, and an important contribution 
to continued improved work health & safety outcomes, as 
evidenced by the record low number of new claims.  

Legislation: This year, Return To Work SA (formerly WorkCover 
SA) has introduced new workers compensation legislation, 
the Return to Work Act which takes effect from 1 July 2015.  
This is the most far reaching change in this field since the last 
Act was introduced in 1987.  Again, the Scheme has been 
busy in assessing and addressing the wide ranging impacts of 
this new legislation and has conducted many education and 
information session for Members.

Once again, I am confident that LG will adapt well building 
on the One System model framework introduced over recent 
years.

Value Added Services: The LGAWCS actively contributes to 
sector wide initiatives and improvements.  Since 1999, the 
Scheme has promoted continuous improvement in Council 
practices in work health and safety and also in Return to Work 
through its annual awards process with total prize money 
awarded of $60,000 through six major and minor awards.  

Similarly, and also since 1999, the LGAWCS has actively sought 
to improve the health and well-being of LG employees 
through its award-winning Healthy Lifestyle Program.  This 
Program is the largest and longest running health promotion 
program in South Australia I am informed, and it delivers 
key health promotion services and messages as well as Skin 
Cancer Screening services on-site to every Council across 

South Australia.  

I am confident that these highly valued services are integral 
to developing that positive culture towards health and well-
being as well as the excellent workplace safety outcomes I 
referred to earlier that we all want to see as an ongoing part of 
our sector.

Finally, I would like to again recognise the continuing 
excellent return for Local Government from establishing and 
maintaining its self-insured licence, and the ongoing working 
partnership between Councils and other Scheme members 
and the excellent staff at the LGAWCS.  As an industry, we are 
the envy of many with our sound and improving practices, 
and our excellent outcomes.

I congratulate the incoming Chairperson and wish the 
Chairperson and also the Board well in driving the ongoing 
success of the LGAWCS – one of three of the sector based, 
Local Government Risk Schemes.

It is my pleasure as Chairman of both the LGAWCS and 
LGAMLS to deliver the 2015, and my final, Annual Report.

John Ross

Chairman
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Coroporate Governance
The Local Government Association Workers Compensation 

Scheme (LGAWCS) is established by the Local Government 
Association of South Australia (LGA) and operates for 

and on behalf of local government and its operating 
authorities including Councils, their subsidiaries and 

the LGA. 

Sound governance principles are important for 
the Board to establish the framework for how it 

oversees the LGAWCS to achieve operational 
objectives, fulfil legislative requirements, 

recognise and manage risk and undertake 
effective decision making. 

The Board will embrace governance 
principles to ensure that accountability 
and integrity are evident from the 
manner in which LGAWCS performs 
its functions. The adopted principles 
provide a practical approach whilst 
achieving flexibility and efficiency 
in a challenging and ever changing 
operating environment to protect 
the interests of the LGA and Scheme 
Members.

Role of The Board
The Board is responsible to administer 
the Scheme for and on behalf of 
the LGA in line with its delegated 
authorities contained within the 
Scheme Rules.  In general terms, the 
Board is responsible for: -

  •  Providing and monitoring strategic       
direction

•   Establishing financial targets and       
    monitoring performance

•   Compliance with applicable laws  and 
     regulation

•   Effective management of risks

•    Protection and optimisation of LGAWCS 
      assets

Regular reports on these items are provided to  
the LGA.
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Role of The Scheme Manager
The Scheme Manager has delegated authorities, agreed with 
the Board and the LGA, that enables effective management 
of the LGAWCS operations.  In general terms, the Scheme 
Manager is responsible for: -

• Administering the Scheme

• Preparation of financial budgets, reports and 
contributions

• Compliance with applicable laws, regulations and codes 
of conduct

• Effective management of risks and claims

• Regular reports to the LGA and LGAWCS Board

• Regular liaison with the Executive Director of LGA

Composition of The Board
The Board is to be comprised of Members with appropriate 
skills, experience and attributes appropriate for the Scheme 
and its activities.

The Board Membership comprises qualified people, 
representing Local Government, State Government and the 
Scheme Manager.  In terms of the LGAWCS Rules the Board 
comprises ten Members with nine Members being non-
executive and the Fund Manager being the only Executive 
Member appointed to the Board.  The LGAWCS Rules require 
the Board to comprise:-

• Six Members, nominated by  the State Executive of LGA, 
one of whom will be the Presiding Member.

• Two Members are nominated by the Government of the 
State of SA.

• Two Members nominated by the Manager

Membership of the Board will be for a term of three years 
and Membership can be renewed at the expiration of the 
member’s term.

The Board meets regularly and its performance is overseen by 
the Presiding Member (Chairman). The Board is focussed on 
managing the Scheme’s: -

• Strategic direction

• Financial targets and performance

• Identification and control of risk

• Regulatory compliance.  

To assist it to discharge its duties the Board regularly considers 
external actuarial, audit and legal advice.  The LGAWCS’s 
strategic issues, financial plans and business plans are 
reviewed annually by the Board.  The Board receives updates 
and forecasts throughout the year from the Scheme Manager.

Remuneration and Personal Liability of 
Board Members
Except in special circumstances approved by LGA, no 
payment or other valuable consideration or other benefit shall 
be made or given out to any member of the Board in respect 
of that person’s performance of duties as a member of the 
Board or otherwise.

A member of the Board (including a deputy) will incur 
no personal liability for an honest act or omission in the 
performance or purported performance of powers, functions 
or duties of the Board.

A liability that would, but for this immunity lie against a 
member of the Board, lies instead against the LGA

Monitoring LGAWCS Results
The Board is responsible to monitor the performance of the 
LGAWCS and undertakes this by: -

• Quarterly reviews of operational, financial, investment and 
corporate performance;

• Establishment and review of an annual budget;

• Receiving advice from an independent Actuary and 
independent Auditor;

• Annual review of LGAWCS strategic results and objectives

The Scheme Manager and WorkCover also implement an 
audit regime to ensure Members comply with the required 
safety and injury management standards.

Regulation
The LGAWCS operates as a scheme established under 
Schedule 1 of the Local Government Act 1999 and must 
comply with this legislation.  The LGAWCS must also comply 
with the various requirements of the Workers Rehabilitation 
and Compensation Act 1987, which include the Performance 
Standards for Self Insurers and WorkCover Code of Conduct.
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Actuarial Review
Since its inception, the LGAWCS has established that its 

liabilities and financial performance are to be assessed 
by an independent actuary.  The external actuary is 

involved in outstanding claim reviews, assessment 
of unearned contributions, setting contributions 

and assessing outstanding claim reserves.  A peer 
review of Actuarial advice is conducted at least 

three yearly.  The external actuary is to be from 
an organisation which is not associated with 
the external auditor.

Audit Reviews
An independent external auditor is 
appointed by the Board of LGAWCS to 
audit the financial statements at 30 
June each year.  The external auditor is 
required to report to the Board and is 
required to meet the Board annually 
following completion of the audit.  
The external auditor is to be from an 
organisation which is not associated 
with the external actuary.

Business Risks
The LGAWCS identifies business 
risks through its annual strategic 
planning and quarterly performance 
monitoring processes.  In line with 
WorkCover requirements and the 
assessment of business risk exposures, 
the Board safeguards its risk exposure by 

purchasing reinsurance protection where 
appropriate.Board members

The Board members of the Scheme at any time during or since the end of 
the financial year are:

   Appointed  
John Ross Reappointed 1 November 2012
Mark Searle Appointed 1 May 2015
Max Amber  Reappointed 1 March 2015
Bruce Green Appointed 1 March 2015
Leo Demer Reappointed 1 November 2012
Tim Jackson Reappointed 1 November 2012
Charles Mansueto Reappointed 1 November 2013
Stuart Moseley Appointed 1 February 2015
Bill Cinnamond Appointed 1 September 2014
Gary Okely Reappointed 1 November 2010
Wendy Campana Resigned 1 May 2015
Michael Sedgman Resigned 1 March 2015
Mick Petrovski Resigned 1 June 2015
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Board Members’ Report
The Board members present their report together with the 
financial report of Local Government Association Workers 
Compensation Scheme (“the Scheme”) for the year ended 
30 June 2015 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Principal Activities
The Scheme is a mutual risk product which offers 
discretionary indemnity and injury management service 
to its members in respect of their potential and actual 
liabilities that arise under the provisions contained in 
the Workers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act. 
These services are provided to Local Government in 
South Australia, and include the provision of claims 
management, worker rehabilitation and eotk health and 
safety management services, to minimise the occurrence of 
worker compensation liabilities.

The deficit for the year amounted to $3,187,410  
(2014: surplus of $3,158,555). The Scheme has provided 
against contributions for 2015/16, a rebate to members 
of $11,380,671 (2014/15 rebate provided against 2014/15 
contributions was $11,915,355).

State of Affairs
In the opinion of the Board members, there were no 
significant changes in the state of affairs of the Scheme 
during the financial year under review.

Environmental Regulation
The Scheme’s operations are not subject to any significant 
environmental regulations under either Commonwealth 
or State legislation. However, the Board believes that 
the Scheme has adequate systems in place for the 
management of its environment requirements and is not 
aware of any breach of those environmental requirements 
as they apply to the Scheme.

Events Subsequent to Reporting 
Date
In the interval between the end of the financial year and 
the date of this report no item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature has arisen, in the opinion of the 
Board members of the Scheme, likely to affect significantly 
the operations of the Scheme, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Scheme in future 
financial years.

Likely Developments
Information about likely developments in the operations of 
the Scheme and the expected results of those operations in 
future financial years has not been included in this report.

Indemnification and Insurance of 
Directors and Officers
Scheme Rule 6.10 states that a member of the Board 
(including a deputy) will incur no personal liability for an 
honest act or omission in the performance or purported 
performance of powers, functions or duties of the Board.

Scheme Rule 6.11 states that a liability that would, but 
for Rule 6.10 lie against the member of the Board, lies 
instead against the Local Government Association of South 
Australia (LGA).

Dated at Adelaide this 24th September 2015.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
members

John Ross   Gary Okely

Chairman   Fund Manager

Board Members’ Report
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Local  Government Association  
Workers Compensation   
Scheme Annual abridged financial 
report 30-June-2015

Relationship of the abridged financial 
report to the full financial report
The abridged financial report is an extract from the full financial 
report for the year ended 30 June 2015. The financial statements and 
specific disclosures included in the abridged financial report have 
been derived from the full financial report.

The abridged financial report cannot be expected to provide as full 
an understanding of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of the Local Government 
Association Workers Compensation Scheme as the full financial 
report. Further information can be obtained from the full financial 
report.

The full financial report and auditor’s report will be sent to members 
on request, free of charge. Please call (08) 8235 6460 and a copy will 
be forwarded to you. Alternatively, you can access the full financial 
report on the secure section of the LGA website at  
www.lga.sa.gov.au.

Scheme Profile
The Local Government Association Workers Compensation Scheme 
(the Scheme) was created to provide a scheme for self-insurance 
against legal liability owed to Scheme Member employees pursuant 
to all relevant legislation.

Within Part 1 of Chapter 15 of the Local Government Act, 1999 
(the “LGA Act”) the continued existence of the Local Government 
Association of South Australia (LGA) is confirmed together with 
requirement that the LGA will continue to conduct and manage a 
Local Government Workers Compensation Self-insurance Scheme.

LGA is a member of a group of Local Government corporations, 
bodies and authorities which group is registered as a Group of 
Self Insured Employers for the purpose of Workers Rehabilitation & 
Compensation Act, 1986 (SA) (the “WRC Act”). Pursuant to the WRC 
Act, LGA is the nominated employer to be treated as the employer of 
all workers employed by the various members of the group.

Membership of the Scheme has been accepted by all sixty eight 
South Australian Councils as well as many associated Local 
Government bodies.

The LGA and Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd (JLT) have entered into 
a Joint Venture Agreement to facilitate the continued operation of 
the Scheme pursuant to all relevant legislation, including the WRC 
Act and all relevant performance standards determined by

WorkCover Corporation.

JLT has considerable experience and acknowledged expertise in the 
operation of self insured group employer workers compensation 
schemes and in particular such schemes that involve local 
government corporations, bodies and authorities. JLT will provide 
such assistance to enable the LGA to manage and operate the 
Scheme. The Scheme operates within South Australia and conducts 
its business at 148 Frome Street, Adelaide.. Under the Joint Venture 
Agreement the LGA relies on JLT to assist by providing operational 
services.

Accordingly, the Scheme itself does not have any employees.

Operating Disclosures
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ABRIDGED FINANCIAL REPORT
Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year ended 30 June 2015

Notes 2015 2014

$ $

Member Contributions 5(a)  19,585,343 18,875,489

Catastrophe insurance (1,254,035) (1,218,854)

Net member contribution revenue  18,331,308 17,656,635

Net claims expense 6(b)  (15,143,999) (8,660,447)

Write back catasptrophe margin - 500,000

Scheme manager expenses  (2,095,862) (1,987,937)

Scheme result  1,091,447 7,508,251

Investment and other income 5(b) 1,777,227 1,815,885

Other administration expenses 6(a)  (6,056,084) (6,165,578)

Operating (Deficit)/Surplus  (3,187,410) 3,158,555

Total operating (Deficit)/Surplus the year 
attributable to L GA  Workers Compensation 
Scheme

 (3,187,410) 3,158,555

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements

Statement of Financial Position

Notes 2015 2014

$ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  14(a)  2,775,381  452,852

Receivables  9 24,168,577 22,011,255

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  10  16,769,682 29,994,944

Total current assets  43,713,640 52,459,051

Non-current assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 24,291,865 15,811,043

Total non-current assets 24,291,865 15,811,043

Total assets 68,005,505 68,270,094

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables  11 2,471,050 2,124,901

Outstanding claims liability 12 8,560,756 7,753,375

Unearned member contribution liability  13 21,469,674 19,470,267

Total current liabilities 32,501,480 29,348,543

Non-current liabilities

Catastrophe margin 85,000 85,000

Outstanding claims liability  12 10,472,785 9,202,901

Total non-current liabilities 10,557,785 9,287,901

Total liabilities  43,059,265 38,636,444

Net assets 24,946,240 29,633,650

13
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Equity

Retained earnings  24,946,240 29,633,650

Total equity 24,946,240 29,633,650

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in total accumulated funds

2015 2014

$ $

Total accumulated funds at the beginning of the year 29,633,650 28,475,100

Surplus for the year (3,187,410) 3,158,555

Special distribution  (1,500,000) (2,000,005)

Total accumulated funds at the end of the year 24,946,240 29,633,650

Statement of cash flows

Notes 2015 2014

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Member contributions received (inclusive of GST) 21,532,327 20,778,137

Outward reinsurance premium paid (1,365,892) (1,327,584)

Claims payments (13,066,734) (10,369,839)

Payment to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (9,827,498) (9,900,286)

Interest received 1,921,322 1,997,806

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 14(b) (806,475) 1,178,234

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments  -  (5,666,000)

Proceeds on disposal of investments  4,629,004 6,000,000

Net cash inflow from investing activities 4,629,004 334,000

Cash flows from financing activities

Special distribution paid (1,500,000)  (2,000,005)

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities  (1,500,000) (2,000,005)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

2,322,529 (487,771)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

452,852 940,623

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14(a) 2,775,381 452,852
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1 Summary of significant accounting 
policies
Local Government Association Workers’ Compensation Scheme (the 
“Scheme”) is domiciled in Australia. The registered address of the 
Scheme is Level 1, 148 Frome Street, Adelaide, South Australia 5000. 
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Board members 
on 24 September 2015. The Board have the power to amend and 
reissue the financial statements.

(a) Statement of compliance
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the financial report are set out below. The Financial Statements 
are a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
where applicable, the Scheme Rules. The financial report complies 
with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

The Scheme is a not for profit entity for the purposes of preparing 
the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
This financial report has been prepared in accordance with the fair 
value basis of accounting with certain exceptions as described in the 
accounting policies below.

The financial report is presented in Australia dollars, which is the 
Scheme’s functional and presentation currency.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in 
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 
and the comparative information presented.

Where presentation or classification of items in the financials 
statements have been amended, comparative figures have been 
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation or classification in 
these financial statements.

(c) Classification of insurance contracts
The Scheme is a mutual risk product as defined by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission and is neither authorised 
under, nor subject to, the provisions of the Insurance Act.The 
Scheme is not a product regulated by the Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority.

For the purpose of these financial statements only, the arrangements 
entered into with members to provide indemnity cover are treated 
as insurance contracts.

These arrangements exist whereby the Scheme may accept 
significant insurance risk from the members by making discretionary 
decisions on whether to compensate the members for a future 
workers’ compensation liability event.

Insurance risk is risk, other than financial risk, transferred from the 
holder of a contract to the issuer.

(d) Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received 
net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). Exchanges of 
goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash 
consideration are not recognised as revenue.

(i) Members’ contributions
Members’ contributions comprise amounts owed by members 
of the Scheme for workers’ compensation liability protection less 
the amount to be returned to members as rebates. Members’ 
contribution revenue is recognised when it has been earned. 
The proportion of members’ contributions received or receivable 
not earned as at the reporting date is recognised as an unearned 
member contribution liability in the balance sheet.

Members’ contributions are treated as earned from the date of 
attachment of risk. The pattern of recognition over the period of 
cover is based on time, which is considered to closely approximate 
the pattern of risks underwritten.

(ii) Other Recoveries
Other recoveries on paid claims are recognised on an individual 
claim basis only where a definite set of circumstances exist which 
will support the credibility of the justification of obtaining either a 
recovery from a Scheme member or a recovery of claim cost from a 
third party.

(iii) Investment income
Investment income is taken into account on an accruals basis and 
includes any changes in the fair value of investments during the 
financial year.

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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(e) Unexpired risk liability
At each reporting date the Scheme assesses whether the 
unearned members’ contribution liability is sufficient to cover all 
expected future cash flows relating to future claims against current 
insurance contracts. This assessment is referred to as the liability 
adequacy test and is performed separately for each group of 
contracts subject to broadly similar risks and managed together as 
a single portfolio.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from general business 
where the expected value of claims and expenses attributed to 
the unexpired periods of policies in force at the balance sheet date 
exceeds the unearned members’ contributions liability in relation 
to such policies.

If the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to 
future claims plus the additional risk margin to reflect the inherent 
uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds the unearned member 
contribution liability then the unearned contribution liability is 
deemed to be deficient.

The entire deficiency, gross and net of reinsurance, is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. As the Scheme does not 
have any intangible assets or deferred acquisition, the deficiency 
would be recorded in the balance sheet as an unexpired risk 
liability.

(f ) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
(ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance 
sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities that are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Outwards reinsurance
Premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as outwards  
reinsurance premium expense in accordance with the pattern of 
reinsurance service received over the membership or indemnity 
periods based on time. 

(h) Claims
The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central 
estimate of the present value of the expected future payments 
for claims incurred at the reporting date, with an additional risk 
margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty in the  
central estimate.

Claims expense and a liability for outstanding claims are 
recognised as losses occur. The liability for outstanding claims 
includes claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred but not 
yet reported (IBNR) and the anticipated direct and indirect costs of 
settling those claim. Claims outstanding are assessed by reviewing 
individual claim files and estimating settlement costs of not 
reported claims using statistics based on past experience  
and trends.

Outstanding claim provisions were determined taking into 
account an actuarial review of the Scheme, dated 27 August 2015 
by Cumpston Sarjeant Pty Ltd. This review was based on initial 
claims data to 31 March 2015 with findings in their report dated 
28 May 2015. This report was up-dated with claims data to 30 June 
2015 and included in their report dated 27 August 2015.

An Actuarial peer review is conducted every three years. A peer 
review was conducted for the financial period ending 30 June 
2014 by Taylor Fry Pty Ltd, consulting actuaries and  
analytics professionals.

The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the present 
value of the expected future payments, reflecting the fact that all 
the claims do not have to be paid out in the immediate future. 
The expected future payments are estimated on the basis of 
the ultimate cost of settling claims, which is affected by factors 
arising during the period to settlement such as normal inflation. 
The expected future payments are discounted to present value at 
balance date using a risk free rate.

(i) Catastrophe margin
In addition to claims outstanding in Note (h) the Scheme has 
recognised the likelihood of future claims in relation to asbestos 
related illnesses. The provision is reviewed annually and the 
Scheme takes guidance from the Actuary in setting the amount 
provided.

(j) Assets backing general insurance liabilities
As part of the investment strategy the Scheme actively manages 
the investment portfolio to ensure that investments mature in 
accordance with the expected pattern of future cash flows arising 
from its insurance liabilities.



17

The Scheme has determined that all assets are held to back its 
insurance liabilities and their accounting treatment is described 
below. As these assets are managed on a fair value basis, they have 
been valued at fair value through profit or loss.

All term deposits are with Local Government Finance Authority 
(LGFA). The Scheme is required to lodge a security with Work Cover 
to support the claims liabilities it carries. The security amount 
is confirmed by the Actuary and for 2015 is $31,407,000 (2014: 
$28,127,000). LGFA have provided this security by way of a Finance 
Guarantee issued to Work Cover. To provide comfort that their 
financial guarantee is secured, the LGFA has required the Scheme 
to conduct a separate deposit of the same amount over which a 
non-registered charge is held.

The accounting policies applying to assets held to back general 
insurance activities are: 

Financial assets
The Scheme values financial assets and any assets backing 
insurance activities at fair value through profit or loss. Details of 
fair value for the different types of financial assets are summarised 
below.

Cash assets and bank overdrafts are carried at face value of the 
amounts deposited or drawn. The carrying amounts of cash 
assets and bank overdrafts approximate to their fair value. For the 
purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on 
hand, call deposits and deposits held where maturity is less than 3 
months, net of bank overdrafts.

Fixed interest securities are recorded at amounts based on 
valuation using rates of interest equivalent to the yields obtainable 
on comparable investments at balance date.

Receivables
Contributions due from members are initially recognised at face 
value, being the amounts due. They are subsequently measured 
at fair value that is approximated by taking the initially recognised 
amount and reducing it for impairment as appropriate.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and term 
deposits with maturity dates of less than 3 months from balance 
date net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(l) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Scheme measures financial instruments, such as investments 
at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also fair value of financial 

instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 5b.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset is in the principal 
market for the asset or in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market for the asset.

The Scheme uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in 
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised  within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

(l) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market price in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable.

Level 3 : Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial 
statements on a recurring basis, the Scheme determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re - 
assessing categorisation ( based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

(m) Payables
Liabilities are recognised for goods and services provided but not 
yet paid. Payments are generally monthly.

(n) New accounting standards and interpretations.
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2015 reporting 
periods and have not been early adopted by the Scheme. The 
Scheme’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and 
interpretations is set out below.

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from

AASB 9, AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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and AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2017)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Since December 2013, it also sets out the new rules for 
hedge accounting. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 
2017 but is available for early adoption. The Scheme has not yet 
decided when to adopt AASB 9. The Scheme is still assessing the 
impact of these amendments.

(ii) Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers (effective 1 January 2018)

The IASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. 
This will replace IAS 18 which covers contracts for goods and 
services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. The new 
standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised 
when control of a good or service transfers to a customer - so the 
notion of control replaces the existing notion of risk and rewards.

The Scheme has not yet considered the impact of the new rules 
on its revenue recognition policies. It will undertake a detailed 
assessment in the near future. Expected date of adoption by the 
Scheme is 1 July 2018.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are 
expected to have a material impact on the Scheme in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2 Accounting estimates and 
judgements
The Scheme makes estimates and assumptions in respect of 
certain key assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are 
continually reviewed and are based on past experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key areas in which 
critical estimates and judgements are applied are described below.

Estimation of outstanding claims liability
Provision is made at the year-end for the estimated cost of claims 
incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, including 
the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported (“IBNR”) to the 
Scheme.

The Scheme takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has 
appropriate information regarding its claims exposure. However, 

given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely 
that the final outcome may be different from the original liability 
established.

Provisions are calculated gross of all recoveries. A separate 
estimate is made of the amounts that will be recoverable from any 
third party.

The determination of an appropriate outstanding claims provision 
involves :

(i) Establishing a case estimate for each reported claim at year-
end taking into account legal advice where appropriate on larger 
claims;

(ii) A development allowance on the net outstanding balance of 
reported claims as confirmed by the actuarial review on 27 August 
2015;

(iii) Allowances for re-opened and incurred but not reported 
claims as confirmed by the actuarial review on 27 August 2015;

(iv) An allowance for recoveries that reduce the liability to the 
member, confirmed by the actuarial review on 27 August 2015;

(v) Allowances for discount at 2.00% (2014: 2.75%), as assumed 
by the Actuary Details of specific actuarial assumptions used in 
deriving the outstanding claims liability at year-end are detailed in 
note 3.

3 Actuarial assumptions and 
methods
(a) Actuarial assumptions
The following assumptions have been made in determining the 
outstanding claims liabilities

2015 2014

Key actuarial assumptions

Wage inflation 3.25%  3.50%

Superimposed inflation  2.00% 2.00%

Discount rate 2.00% 2.75%
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(b) Process used to determine actuarial assumptions
A description of the processes used to determine the above key 
actuarial assumptions is provided below :

In their review of 27 August 2015, the Actuary was provided with 
claims data on claims incurred net of excesses and anticipated 
recoveries to reduce the liability of members. The Actuary allowed 
for.

• Developments in case estimates on reported claims by a 
Projected Case Estimates method;

• Costs of claims likely to be re-opened, claims incurred but not 
reported and potential recoveries to reduce the liability of 
members by inflation adjusted Payment per Claim Incurred 
methods based on ultimate non-zero claim numbers 
projected by a Chain Ladder method and 5 year averages;

• Expected investment earnings by applying a fitted payment 
pattern to the undiscounted sum of the above components 
and then discounting at the assumed discount rate;

• There were no recoveries either due or expected from 
reinsurance contracts.

(c) Wage inflation
The Actuary assumed wage inflation of 3.25% per annum (2014: 
3.50%), based on recent inflation levels in South Australia.

(d) Superimposed inflation
The Actuary assumed future superimposed inflation, the rate at 
which claims increase in excess of wage inflation, at 2.00% per 
annum (2014: 2.00%). Superimposed inflation occurs due to non-
economic effects such as court settlements increasing at a faster 
rate than wage or CPI inflation.

(e) Discount rate
The estimates of the outstanding claims liabilities were discounted 
to allow for future investment income gains attributable to the 
liabilities. The estimates of Reinsurance recovery assets were 
discounted to allow for future income losses attributable to the 
assets. The Actuary assumed a discount rate of 2.00% per annum 
(2014: 2.75%), based on current medium term bond rates.

(f ) Sensitivity analysis
The outstanding claims liability included in the reported results 
are calculated based on the key actuarial assumptions as 
disclosed above. The movement in any of the above key actuarial 
assumptions will impact the performance and total accumulated 
funds of the Scheme.

The table below describes how a change in each of the 
assumptions will affect the outstanding claims liabilities.

Variable Impact of movement in 
variable

Wage inflation Expected future payments are 
inflated to take account of inflationary 
increases. An increase or decrease 
in the assumed levels of economic 
inflation would have a corresponding 
impact on claims expense, with 
particular reference to longer tail 
claims.

Superimposed inflation In addition to the general economic 
inflation rate an amount is 
superimposed to take account of non-
economic inflationary factors, such as 
increases in court awards. Such rates 
of superimposed inflation are specific 
to the model adopted. An increase 
or decrease in the assumed levels of 
superimposed inflation would have 
a corresponding impact on claims 
expense, with particular reference to 
longer tail claims.

Discount rate The outstanding claims liability is 
calculated by reference to expected 
future payments. These payments are 
discounted to adjust for time value 
of money. An increase or decrease in 
the assumed discount rate will have 
an opposing impact on total cllaims 
expense.

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015



20

(g) Impact of changes in key variables

Profit/(loss) Total accumulated funds

Movement by applying variable - Profit/(Loss) 

Variable Movement in 
variable %

Gross of
reinsurance

Net of
reinsurance

Total
accumulated

funds

Wage inflation 3 523,000 (523,000) (523,000)

(3) (417,000)  417,000  417,000

Superimposed inflation 3 531,000 (531,000) (531,000)

(3) (421,000) 421,000 421,000

Discount Rate 3 (1,338,000) 1,338,000 1,338,000

(3) 1,717,000 (1,717,000) (1,717,000)

As the Scheme has no Reinsurance Assets the above table shows Gross and Net of Reinsurance as the same.

4 Insurance contracts – risk 
management
• Risk management objectives and policies for 

mitigating insurance risk
The Scheme is established by legislation contained in the 
Local Government Act 1999. Membership is available to local 
government councils and prescribed bodies. The Scheme operates 
in South Australia to provide a claims management service 
to members in respect of their potential and actual workers 
compensation liabilities. A member may seek indemnity from the 
Scheme in respect of a claim.

Under the Scheme Rules, the Local Government Association may 
in its sole and absolute discretion determine whether indemnity 
will be granted in respect of a claim. Should indemnity be granted 
the Scheme offers unlimited cover.

Actuarial models, using information from the Scheme’s 
management information systems are used to confirm 
contributions and monitor claim patterns. Past experience and 
statistical methods are used as part of the process.

The principal risk is that the frequency and severity of claims is 
greater than expected. Workers Compensation Liability events 
are, by their nature, random, and the actual number and size of 
events during any one-year may vary from those estimated using 
established statistical techniques.

• Objectives in managing risk arising from insurance 
and policies for mitigating those risks

The Scheme has an objective to control insurance risk thus 
reducing the volatility of its operating surplus. In addition to the 
inherent uncertainty of workers compensation risks, which can 
lead to variability in the loss experience, operating surpluses can 
also be affected by external factors such as competition and 
movements in asset values.

The Scheme relies on a strong relationship with its members 
and their employees and actively encourages them to adopt 
occupational health and safety practices that reduce the incidence 
of claims to the Scheme.

• Reinsurance strategy
The Scheme adopts a conservative approach towards 
management of risk and does this by utilising various risk 
transfer options. The Board determines the level of risk, which 
is appropriate for the Scheme having regards to ordinary 
concepts of prudence and regulatory constraints. The risk transfer 
arrangements adopted by the Scheme include the utilisation of 
commercial reinsurance arrangements.

These risk transfer arrangements assist the Scheme to limit 
exposures to large single claims and catastrophic events. These 
programs are regularly reviewed each year to ensure that they 
continue to meet the risk needs of the Scheme.
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• Terms and conditions of membership
Membership to the Scheme is offered to eligible bodies and 
renewed annually on 30 June. Payment of the annual contribution 
confirms continuation of membership. Termination of membership 
is subject to at least 90 days written notice of intention as laid out 
by the Scheme Rules. Once a claim is accepted and indemnity 
granted each claim is handled individually on the circumstances 
peculiar to the claim.

• Product features
The Scheme operates in South Australia, whereby the Local 
Government Association of South Australia is a group self-insurer 
which enables the scheme to operate under a delegated authority 
as described in the South Australian Workers’ Rehabilitation and 
Compensation Act 1986 (WRC Act).

Should a claim be accepted, the Scheme provides indemnity to 
the member in respect of their workers’ compensation liabilities for 
amounts and benefits detailed in the WRC Act.

Operating surpluses arise from the total contributions charged to 
members less the amounts paid to cover claims and the expenses 
incurred by the Scheme.

• Management of risks
The key insurance risks that affect the Scheme are contribution 
risk, and claims experience risk.

Contribution risk is the risk that the Scheme does not charge 
contributions appropriate for the indemnity cover it provides. The 
Scheme partially manages contribution risk through its proactive

approach to risk management that addresses all material risks 
both financial and non-financial. There are no specific terms and 
conditions that are expected to have a material impact on the 
financial statements.

Claims experience risk is managed through the non-financial risk 
assessment and risk management and reinsurance management 
process. Claims experience is monitored on an ongoing basis to 
ensure that that any adverse trending is addressed. The Scheme is 
able to reduce the claims experience risk of severe losses through 
the reinsurance program, and by managing the concentration of 
insurance risks.

• Concentration of insurance risks
Insurance risk is managed by taking a long term approach to 
setting the annual contribution rates that

eliminates price fluctuations, adopting an appropriate investment 
strategy, implementing a reinsurance

program and by maintaining an active state-wide risk 
management profile. It is vital that the Scheme

keeps abreast of changes in the general economic, legal and 
commercial environment in which it

operates.

•  Interest rate risk
The reinsurance indemnity contracts contain no clauses that 
expose the Scheme directly to interest

rate risk. The reinsurance contracts are long term arrangements, 
reviewed and payable annually.

• Credit risk
The Scheme is exposed to credit risk on insurance contracts as a 
result of exposure to reinsurers. The

credit risk to reinsurers is managed through the Scheme regularly 
monitoring the financial rating of the

reinsurers both prior to and during the reinsurance program.
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5 Revenue
(a) Member contributions

2015 2014

$ $

Gross earned member contributions 31,500,678 29,479,534

Rebate to members (11,915,335) (10,604,045)

Net member contribution revenue 19,585,343 18,875,489

(b) Investment income

2015 2014

$ $

Interest income 1,892,663 1,921,299

Net fair value loss on financial assets at 
fair value through profit and loss

 (115,436) (105,417)

Total investment income 1,777,227 1,815,882

6 Operating Surplus
(a) Breakdown of expenses by nature

2015 2014

$ $

Operating surplus has been arrived at 
after charging the following items

Actuarial fees 12,276 50,355

Auditors fee’s 32,500 19,900

Bank and gurantee fees 34,551 31,374

Health & wellbeing 669,137 568,522

Industrial, legal & consulting fees 476,066 448,852

Injury management legislative 
compliance 

166,702 69,214

Legal - fees 4,334 18,143

General expneses 16,138 67,597

Printing and stationery - 3,000
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Rent 209,877 214,887

Regional risk management fees 939,900 862,800

Sponsorship & promotion 77,574 76,349

Seminars 279 220

Subscriptions 20,153 10,279

OHS core system development 728,372 989,850

Development fund 184,685 308,118

Workcover levy 1,714,565 1,713,118

Loss control - fees 759,000 713,000

Board meetng expenses 9,975 -

Total 6,056,084 6,165,578

(b) Net claims expense

Direct business

Current period claims relate to risk borne in the current financial year. Prior period amounts relate to a reassessment of the 
risks borne in all previous financial years.

Current year 2015

Prior years

Total

$ $ $

Gross claims expense

Gross claims and related expenses - 
undiscounted 

11,256,767 3,759,593 15,016,360

Gross claims and related expenses - 
discount 

(214,196) 341,835 127,639

Gross claims and related expenses - 
discounted 

11,042,571 4,101,428 15,143,999

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

Reinsurance and other recoveries 
revenue - undiscounted 

- - -

Reinsurance and other recoveries 
revenue - discount - - -

- - -

Reinsurance and other recoveries - 
discounted 

- - -

Net claims incurred 11,042,571 4,101,428 15,143,999
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6  Operating Surplus
Current year 2014

Prior years 

Total

$ $ $

Gross claims expense

Gross claims and related 
expenses - undiscounted 

10,929,491 (2,573,286) 8,356,205

Gross claims and related 
expenses - discount 

(258,201) 562,443 304,242

Gross claims and related 
expenses - discounted 

10,671,290 (2,010,843)  8,660,447

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

Reinsurance and other 
recoveries revenue - 
undiscounted 

- - -

Reinsurance and other 
recoveries revenue - discount 

- - -

Reinsurance and other 
recoveries - discounted 

- - -

Net claims incurred 10,671,290 (2,010,843) 8,660,447

7 Liability adequacy test
The liability adequacy test conducted by the Actuary has identified a surplus.

The liability adequacy test identified the central estimate of the present value of future cash flows for future claims

to be $11,301,000 with an additional component of present value of expected future cash flows in relation to risk

margin to be $2,327,000.

In performing this test a risk margin of 20% was used to secure a 75% probability of adequacy.

The probability of adequacy for the outstanding claims liability is set at a level that is appropriate and sustainable

to cover the Scheme’s claims obligations after having regard to the prevailing market environment and prudent

industry practice.
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8 Auditors’ remuneration
2015 2014

$ $

Audit Services

Auditors fees 32,500 19,900

32,500 19,900

9 Receivables
2015 2014

$ $

Member Contribution Receivables 23,616,641 21,405,557

GST Receivable 169,092 194,196

Accrued Income 382,844 411,502

Total Receivables 24,168,577 22,011,255

10 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investments comprise deposits at call and deposits for terms with varying maturity dates at market rates with the

Local Government Finance Authority of South Australia (LGFA). Investments are initially brought into account at

cost and subsequently remeasured to fair value through the profit and loss.

The investments are categorised as level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. Fair value of the investments is derived

in line with the Scheme’s accounting policy on financial assets in note 1.

The fair value of term deposits is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on

observable government bond rates.

2015 2014

$ $

Current 16,769,682 29,994,944

Non-Current 24,291,865 15,811,043

41,061,547 45,805,987

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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11 Payables
2015 2014

$ $

Accrued expenses 317,730 179,357

GST on contributions  2,153,320 1,945,544

2,471,050 2,124,901

12 Outstanding claims liability
2015 2014

$ $

Central estimate (A) 16,269,451 14,715,725

Discount to present value (863,445) (991,085)

15,406,006 13,724,640

Claims handling cost (B) 455,278 405,590

15,861,284 14,130,230

Risk margin (C) 3,172,257 2,826,046

Gross outstanding claims 
liability 

19,033,541 16,956,276

Gross claims incurred - 
undiscounted (A + B + C) 

19,896,986  17,947,361

Current 8,560,756 7,753,375

Non - current 10,472,785 9,202,901

19,033,541 16,956,276

Risk Margin
Process used to determine the risk margin

The risk margin is an additional allowance for uncertainty in the ultimate cost of claims. The Board determines the

overall margin adopted after considering the uncertainty in the portfolio, industry trends and the Scheme’s risk appreciation.

To determine the margin adopted the Actuary concluded that a risk margin of 20% would be reasonable, if the Scheme was to have 
approximately 75% probability of its claim provisions proving reliable.

The risk margin is added to the central estimate of net outstanding claims liability.

Reconciliation of movement in discounted outstanding claims liability.
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2015

Gross Recoveries Net

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 16,956,276  - 16,956,276

Current year claims incurred 11,042,571 - 11,042,571

Previous years claims incurred 4,101,428  - 4,101,428

Incurred claims in income statement 15,143,999  - 15,143,999

All claims paid during the year  (13,066,734)  - (13,066,734)

Balance at 30th June 19,033,541 - 19,033,541

2014

Gross Recoveries Net

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 18,665,665 - 18,665,665

Current year claims incurred 10,671,290  - 10,671,290

Previous years claims incurred  (2,010,843) - (2,010,843)

Incurred claims in income statement 8,660,447  - 8,660,447

All claims paid during the year (10,369,836)  - (10,369,836)

Balance at 30th June 16,956,276  - 16,956,276
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Claims development
Claims development tables are disclosed in order to put the claims estimates included in the financial statements

into a context, allowing comparison of those claims estimates with the claims results seen in previous years. In effect, the table highlights 
the Scheme’s ability to provide an estimate of the total value of claims. The top part of the table provides a review of current estimates of 
cumulative claims and demonstrates how the estimated claims have changed at subsequent reporting or accidents year-ends. The lower 
part of the table provides a reconciliation of the total reserve included in the balance sheet and the estimates of cumulative claims. The 
claims development table in below. Being short tailed claims in nature it is anticipated that all claims within an accident year should be 
finalised within 2 years.

Claims development table 2015

Gross and Net

Accident year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total

Estimate of ultimate claim costs $ $ $ $ $ $

At accident year 10,868,323 9,641,160 9,982,561 10,778,657 11,082,782 -

One year later 9,984,888 9,173,584 10,519,677 12,262,514 - -

Two years later 9,261,954 8,052,544 12,100,408 - - -

Three years later 8,437,578 8,656,059 - - - -

Four years later 8,522,436 - - - - -

Current estimate of cumulative 
claims cost

8,522,436 8,656,059 12,100,408  12,262,514 11,082,782  52,624,199

Cumulative payments  (7,636,865)  (7,021,106)  (9,320,968)  (8,578,143)  (3,768,849)  (36,325,931)

Outstanding claims - 
undiscounted

885,571 1,634,953 2,779,440 3,684,371 7,313,933 16,298,268

Discount  (630,392)

Claims handling expenses 383,955

2010 and prior 2,981,710

Total gross outstanding claims per 
statement of financial position

19,033,541
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Claims development table 2014

Gross and Net

Accident year 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

Estimate of ultimate claim costs $ $ $ $ $ $

At accident year 10,075,292  10,868,323  9,641,160  9,982,561 10,778,657 -

One year later 8,496,110 9,984,888 9,173,584 10,519,677 - -

Two years later 7,181,782 9,261,954 8,052,544 - -  -  -

Three years later 7,337,548  8,437,578 - -  -  -

Four years later 6,992,297  -  -  - - 

Current estimate of cumulative 
claims

cost 6,992,297 8,437,578 8,052,544 10,519,677 10,778,657 44,780,753

Cumulative payments (5,624,007) (7,225,387) (5,633,998) (7,128,233) (4,365,471) (29,977,096)

Outstanding claims - 
undiscounted 

1,368,290 1,212,191  2,418,546  3,391,444 6,413,186  14,803,657

Discount (743,362)

Claims handling expenses 344,558

2009 and prior 2,551,423

Total gross outstanding claims per 
statement of financial position

16,956,276

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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13 Unearned members’ contribution liability
2015 2014

$ $

Unearned members’ contribution liability as 
1 July

19,470,267 19,146,117

Members’ contribution written in the period 21,584,750 19,199,639

Recognition of members’ contribution as 
revenue during the period

 (19,585,343)  (18,875,489)

21,469,674 19,470,267

14 Cash flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and cash equivalents being term investments 
with maturity dates less than 3 months. Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the balance sheet as follows.

2015 2014

$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 560,792 (304,427)

Term Investments less than 3 months to 
maturity 

2,214,589 757,279

2,775,381 452,852

(b) Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to net (deficit)/surplus

2015 2014

$ $

Net (Deficit)/Surplus from ordinary activities (3,187,410) 3,158,555

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments at 
fair value through profit or loss 

115,436 105,417

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) in receivables (2,157,321) (281,038)

(Decrease) in catastrophe margin  - (500,000)

Increase in payables 346,148 80,543

Increase in unearned member contributions 1,999,407 324,150

Increase/(decrease) in outstanding claims 
liability 

2,077,265 (1,709,393)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating 
activities

 (806,475) 1,178,234
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15 Key management personnel disclosure
There are no employees of the Scheme.

The Local Government Association of South Australia (LGA) and Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd (JLT), the Scheme Manager, have entered 
into a Joint Venture and have contemporaneously executed a Joint Venture Mnagement Agreement dated 30 June 1997 and a Joint 
Venture Operations Agreement dated 30 June 1997.

The agreement states that both parties have agreed to co-operate together as joint venturers to facilitate the operation of the Scheme. 
The LGA will manage and operate the Scheme and JLT will provide assistance and advice to LGA in connection with the operation of the 
Scheme as set out in the Joint Venture Agreement and as requested or directed by the LGA.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel
There are no employees of the Scheme. Key management personnel are remunerated by Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd (the Scheme 
Manager).

16 Related party disclosures
The Local Government Association of South Australia is the immediate parent entity Common controlled entities are
Local Government Association Mutual Liability Scheme Other related parties Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Insurance Broker
Local Government Finance Authority of South Australia Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Scheme Manager

(a) Related party transactions
All transactions were made on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

2015 2014

$

Investment income
Local Government Finance Authority of South Australia 

1,890,649 1,919,143

Management fee
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as  
Scheme Manager 

2,095,862 1,987,938

Industrial, legal & associated services
Local Government Association of South Australia 

476,066 448,852

Outward reinsurance premium
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Insurance Brokers 

1,254,035 1,218,854

Injury management services
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Scheme Manager 

45,343 45,434

OHS core system development
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Scheme Manager 

722,348 1,297,968

Injury management services- legislative compliance & management
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Scheme Manager 

112,890  -

Rent
Local Government Association of South Australia 

209,877 214,887

Risk management fees
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Pty Ltd as Scheme Manager 

1,698,900 1,575,800
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(b) Receivables

2015 2014

$ $

Accrued interest
Local Government Finance Authority of South Australia 

382,844 411,502

Investments at face value
Local Government Finance Authority of South Australia 

43,276,136 46,563,265

17 Segment reporting
The Scheme provides workers compensation liability cover and the management of associated claims for Local
Government solely within South Australia.
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18 Financial risk management
The Scheme’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, market risk (interest rate risk), and credit risk. The

Scheme’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effect on the financial performance of the Scheme.

(a) Interest rate risk

(i) Interest rate risk exposure
The Scheme’s main interest rate risk arises from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss account and

short term deposits with banks. Investments at variable rates expose the Scheme to cash flow interest rate risk.

Investments at fixed rates expose the Scheme to fair value interest rate risk. All investments are held with Local

Government Finance Authority. The Scheme has no formal policy in respect of the percentage of investments at

fixed rates. Investments at fixed rates are made as and when opportunities arise.

2015 Fixed interest maturing in:

Floating

interest rate

1 year or less Over 1 to 2 
years

Over 2 to 3 
years

Over 3 to 4 
years

Non -interest 
bearing

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash 560,792 - - - - - 560,792

Short term
deposits

- 2,214,589 - - - - 2,214,589

Investments - 16,769,682 24,291,865 - - - 41,061,547

Member 
Contributions

-  -  - - - 23,616,641 23,616,641

Total 560,792 18,984,271 24,291,865  -  - 23,616,641 67,453,569

Weighted
average
interest rate
%    0.10   1.99   2.01 

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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2014  Fixed interest maturing in:

Floating

interest rate

1 year or less Over 1 to 2 
years

Over 2 to 3 
years

Over 3 to 4 
years

Non -interest 
bearing

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets

Cash (304,426) - - - - - (304,426)

Short term
deposits

- 757,279 - - - - 757,279

Investments - 29,994,944 15,811,043 - - - 45,805,987

Member 
Contributions

-  -  - - - 21,405,557 21,405,557

Total - 30,752,223 15,811,043  -  - 21,405,557 67,664,397

Weighted
average
interest rate
%    0.10   2.45   2.46

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to member 
contributions. For banks and financial institutions only those parties with a minimum of ‘A’ rating are accepted.

The Scheme invoices members contributions only in advance to manage its credit risk. Due to the nature of the Scheme activities 
members are required to pay their contribution in a timely manner.

(c) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or

for disclosure purposes.
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The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Investment at fair value through profit and loss.

Interest rate risk exposures

30 June 2015
Carrying Amount 

AUD 

$

Profit impact of 
-1% change in 

interest rate 

$

Equity
$

Profit impact of 
+1% change in 

interest rate 
$

Equity
$

Financial Assets

Cash  560,792 (5,608)  - 5,608  -

Short term deposits  2,214,589 (22,146) 22,146 -

Investments  41,061,547 (410,615) - 410,615  -

Total 43,836,928 (438,369) - 438,369  -

30 June 2014
Carrying Amount 

AUD 

$

Profit impact of 
-1% change in 

interest rate 

$

Equity
$

Profit impact of 
+1% change in 

interest rate 
$

Equity
$

Financial Assets

Cash (304,426) 3,044 - (3,044)  -

Short term deposits 757,279 (7,573) - 7,573  -

Investments 45,805,987 (458,060) - 458,060  -

Total 46,258,840 (462,589)  - 462,589  -

The movement in profit are due to higher/lower interest income from variable rate cash balances and movements
in the value of investments at fair value through the profit and loss.

19 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
No significant events have occurred since balance date that would impact on the financial position of the Scheme
disclosed in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2015 or on the results and cash flows of the Scheme for the year ended on that date.

Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015
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Financial Report Year ended 30 June 2015

20 Board Members’ declaration
In the members’ opinion

The financial statements and notes set out on pages 1 to 26 are in accordance with the Scheme Rules effective from 30 June 
2005, including.

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Scheme Rules effective from 30 June 2005; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the scheme’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for the

financial year ended on that date; and

(iii) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the scheme will be able to pay its debts as and when they

become due and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of members on 24 September 2015.

John Ross        Gary Okely

Chairman        Fund Manager



PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Level 11, 70 Franklin Street, ADELAIDE SA 5000, GPO Box 418, ADELAIDE SA 5001
T: +61 8 8218 7000, F: +61 8 8218 7999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report to the Board members of Local
Government Association Workers' Compensation Scheme

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Local Government Association Workers'
Compensation Scheme (the Scheme), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30
June 2015, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in total accumulated funds
and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting
policies, other explanatory notes and the Board members’ declaration.

Board members’ responsibility for the financial report
The Board members of the Scheme are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and for such internal control
as the Board members of the Scheme determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the Board
members of the Scheme also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of
Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board members of the
Scheme, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Local Government Association Workers' Compensation Scheme:

(i) gives a true and fair view of the Scheme's financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complies with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations).

(b) the Scheme's financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Kevin Reid Adelaide
Partner 24 September 2015
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1. Operation Of Rules
These Rules operate from 4.00 pm on 30 June 2005.

2. Definitions
In these Rules, the following words have the meanings given to 
them:

2.1  ‘Board’ means the Board of Management appointed by LGA 
in accordance with these Rules.

2.2  ‘Claim’ means any claim made upon a Member by an 
employee in respect of a compensable disability under the 
Workers’ Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1986, or a 
claim by another entity seeking recovery from a Member in 
respect of a compensable disability by any person.

2.3  ‘Fund’ means the fund established and maintained in 
accordance with these Rules.

2.4  ‘LGA’ means the Local Government Association of South 
Australia which for the purposes of the Workers’ Scheme is 
the ‘Nominated Employer’ pursuant to Section 60(7) of the 
Workers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1986 (‘the 
Act’) and for the purposes of these Rules and any decision 
making by LGA under these Rules is the State Executive of 
the Local Government Association of South Australia.

2.5  Manager’ means the Manager appointed in accordance with 
these Rules.

2.6   ‘Member’ means:
 2.6.1  Local Government Association of  

South Australia (LGA);
 2.6.2  CPA Pty Ltd;
 2.6.3  The Local Government Finance Authority of South 

Australia;
 2.6.4  Local Government Superannuation Board;
 2.6.5  All Councils and Subsidiaries constituted pursuant to the 

provisions of the Local Government Act 1999;
 2.6.6  Any other body so prescribed by the provisions of any Act 

of Parliament;
 2.6.7  Any other entity admitted to the membership of the 

Workers’ Scheme by the LGA.

2.7 ‘Ordinary Resolution’ means a resolution passed with the 
majority of the votes of all persons present and entitled to 
vote at the meeting at which the resolution is put.

2.8 ‘Special Resolution’ means a resolution passed with the 
unanimous vote of all persons present and entitled to vote 
at the meeting at which the resolution is put.

2.9 ‘the Act’ means the Workers’ Rehabilitation and 
Compensation Act 1986, and any Act of Parliament in 
addition to or in substitution for that Act.

2.10 ‘Workers’ Scheme’ means The Local Government Association 
Workers’ Compensation Scheme first established in 1994 
and conducted pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 
and in accordance, with these Rules.

3. Delegation
3.1 LGA may delegate any power, function or duty under 

these Rules to the Board subject to such limitations and 
conditions as may be determined by LGA.

3.2 LGA may revoke or amend a delegated power, function or 
duty at any time by giving written notice to that effect to 
the Board.

3.3 Subject only to any limitations or conditions in the 
delegation the Board in exercising delegated power will be 
empowered under these Rules as if it were the LGA..

3.4 Any other power, function or duty to be delegated by LGA 
to the Board will be as determined by LGA and notified in 
writing to the Board.

4.  Objectives
4.1 The objectives of the Workers’ Scheme are to provide 

to Members assistance in respect of their potential and 
actual liabilities for any Claim for the rehabilitation of and/
or payment of compensation to an employee or any other 
person so entitled for compensable disabilities under the 
Act and including but without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing to provide:

 4.1.1 advices in respect of minimising the risk of occurrence 
and severity of all compensable disabilities;

 4.1.2 assistance in the administration, investigation and 
resolution of any Claim;

 4.1.3 assistance in the rehabilitation of employees suffering 
from compensable disabilities;

Scheme Rules
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 4.1.4  legal representation in respect of any Claim;
 4.1.5 financial assistance by way of discretionary grants 

in respect of Member liabilities for the rehabilitation 
and compensation of all employees suffering from 
compensable disabilities.

5.  Membership
5.1  The entities defined in Rule 2.6 are by the adoption of these 

Rules Members of the Workers’ Scheme.

5.2 LGA may from time to time on the recommendation of 
the Board and by Special Resolution admit to membership 
of the Workers’ Scheme any other entity which makes 
application to LGA and agrees to be bound by these Rules.

5.3 In exercising discretion to admit an entity to membership of 
the Workers’ Scheme, LGA may take into account any matter 
which it considers relevant.

5.4 In respect of each financial year during the operation of 
the Workers’ Scheme, the Members shall be those entities 
which have been admitted to membership and have paid 
all moneys levied in respect of their membership for that 
financial year (‘contribution’).

5.5 Payment of a contribution by a Member shall be evidence of 
the Member’s agreement to be bound by these Rules.

6.  The Board
6.1 LGA will maintain a Board to administer the Workers’ Scheme 

in the pursuit of the objectives for and on behalf of LGA and 
the Members of the Workers’ Scheme.

6.2 Membership of the Board will be for a term of three years 
which can be renewed from time to time.

6.3 The Board will comprise:
 6.3.1 Six members nominated by the LGA one of whom will be 

appointed by the Board to be the Presiding Member of 
the Board;

 6.3.2 Two members nominated by the Government of the State 
of South Australia; and

 6.3.3 Two members nominated by the Manager.

6.4 Every member of the Board may have a deputy nominated 
by the Board member and approved by the LGA who may 
attend meetings participate fully in the meeting and vote 
in the absence of the Board member and otherwise may 
attend meetings at the invitation of the Board but will not 
then be entitled to vote.

6.5 Save for any matter which under the Rules requires a Special 
Resolution, questions arising at a meeting of the Board shall 
be decided by Ordinary Resolution.

6.6 Six members of the Board including one Board member 
appointed under Clause 6.3.2 (or the deputy attending as 
the case may be) will constitute a quorum for any meeting 
of the Board.

6.7 Members of the Board will be entitled only to one vote on 
any matter.

6.8 Except in special circumstances approved by LGA no 
payment or other valuable consideration or any other 
benefit shall be made or given out of the Fund to 
any member of the Board in respect of that person’s 
performance of duties as a member of the Board or 
otherwise.

6.9 The Board shall report annually to LGA and the Members on 
all aspects of the operation of the Workers’ Scheme for the 
preceding year.

6.10 A member of the Board (including a deputy) will incur 
no personal liability for an honest act or omission in 
the performance or purported performance of powers, 
functions or duties of the Board.

6.11 A liability that would, but for Rule 6.10 lie against a member 
of the Board or a deputy, lies instead against LGA which will 
fully indemnify the member of the Board and a deputy for 
any such liability.
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7. Fund
7.1  LGA shall maintain a Fund to meet the objectives of 

the Workers’ Scheme and for that purpose shall at the 
commencement of each financial year levy the Members of 
the Workers’ Scheme a contribution to be paid into the Fund 
at such levels as are determined by LGA to meet:

 7.1.1 such Claims as may be made against any one or more of 
the Members during that year;

 7.1.2  such Claims as may have been made against any one 
or more of the Members during any previous year and 
which at the commencement of these Rules and any new 
financial year have not been settled;

 7.1.3  the operating expenses of the Workers’ Scheme for that 
year;

 7.1.4 any grants or allocations to Members which LGA in its 
discretion may make or intends to make;

 7.1.5  the cost to LGA of performing its responsibilities under 
the Workers’ Scheme;

 7.1.6  any other amount determined by LGA to be required for 
a contribution to the Workers’ Scheme.

7.2  The Members must contribute to the Fund in the 
proportions and the amounts determined annually by LGA.

7.3  LGA shall administer the Fund with the intent that upon the 
settlement of all Claims made in any financial year:

 7.3.1 any surplus remaining in the Fund attributable to that year 
shall be allocated at the absolute direction of LGA toward 
liabilities of the Fund for any other year whether future or 
past; and

 7.3.2  any deficiency in the Fund in that year may be met 
by additional contributions levied by LGA against 
each Member for that year in the proportion in which 
contributions were made to the Fund by each Member for 
that year.

8. Powers, duties and functions  
of LGA

8.1  LGA shall be empowered for and on behalf of the Members 
of the Workers’ Scheme to do all the following things 
namely:

 8.1.1 levy Members for differential contributions to the Fund;
 8.1.2  invest all contributions received from Members of the 

Workers’ Scheme;
 8.1.3  expend the contributions and income earned comprising 

the Fund of the Workers’ Scheme in respect of each 
financial year in and towards:

 8.1.3.1  the general administration of the Workers’ Scheme;
 8.1.3.2  assistance to Members by way of any advices in respect 

of their potential and actual liabilities in respect of 
compensable disabilities;

 8.1.3.3  assistance to Members in respect of the rehabilitation of 
employees suffering from compensable disabilities;

 8.1.3.4  assistance to Members in the administration, 
investigation and resolution of Claims;

 8.1.3.5  legal representation for Members in respect of any 
Claims;

 8.1.3.6  financial assistance by way of grants to Members in 
respect of their liabilities to rehabilitate and compensate 
employees suffering from compensable disabilities;

 8.1.3.7  the cost to LGA of performing its responsibilities under 
the Workers’ Scheme; and

 8.1.3.8  such other expenses determined by LGA to be 
necessarily incidental to the proper functioning of the 
Workers’ Scheme.

8.2 LGA may make such additional rules to be observed by a 
Member or the Members as it may deem fit with respect 
to the terms and conditions upon which a Member or 
Members will be eligible for assistance from the Workers’ 
Scheme provided that no such rule shall be made in terms 
inconsistent with these Rules and further provided that 
no such rule shall operate and take effect in respect of any 
Member until a copy thereof shall have been served upon 
such Member or Members.

8.3 LGA will enter into all such agreements for and on behalf 
of Members of the Workers’ Scheme as are necessary for 
or incidental to, the proper administration of the Workers’ 
Scheme in the pursuit of its objectives.

8.4 LGA will carry out all such investigation of such things and 
make all submissions to such bodies as LGA may deem to 
be necessary for or incidental to, the proper administration 
of the Workers’ Scheme in the pursuit of its objectives.
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9. Admission of claim to indemnity
   LGA shall consider any Claim for which a Member seeks 

indemnity from the Fund and may in its sole and absolute 
discretion and either in whole or in part and upon such 
terms and conditions as LGA may consider appropriate 
determine whether it will grant indemnity and assistance for 
the Member from the Fund in respect of any such Claim.

10. Management of the Scheme
10.1 LGA must engage a Manager upon such terms and 

conditions as may be determined by LGA.

10.2 the Manager’s duties shall be specified by LGA from time to 
time and shall include:

 10.2.1  carrying out such duties with respect to the management 
and administration of the Workers’ Scheme for and on 
behalf of LGA as LGA may deem fit from time to time;

 10.2.2 keeping records of all activities for and on behalf of the 
Workers’ Scheme;

 10.2.3 the preparation of the annual operating budget;
 10.2.4  the calculation of contributions in conjunction with 

actuarial advice;
 10.2.5 the management of Claims made against each Member 

including:
 10.2.5.1 the investigation and assessment of those Claims;
 10.2.5.2 the preparation of regular reports to LGA or the Board 

on the progress of Claims and the preparation of 
recommendations as to the settlement or otherwise of 
the Claims;

 10.2.5.3 the issue of instructions to the Workers’ Scheme legal 
advisers for advice in respect of Claims and for assistance 
in the defence of Claims;

 10.2.5.4 the keeping of the accounts of the Fund for each year;
 10.2.5.5 the preparation of advice and recommendations on the 

investment of any moneys of the Fund not immediately 
required;

 10.2.5.6 the preparation of regular reports to LGA or the Board 
in such form as LGA or the Board shall from time to time 
direct in respect of the Fund under its administration as 
to:

   (a) Claims outstanding;
   (b) the assessment of liability in respect of each 

outstanding Claim;
   (c) the ability of the Fund to meet the assessment of 

liability;
   (d) the assessment of further contributions required, if 

any;
   (e) the investment of the moneys of the Fund not 

immediately required; and

   (f ) the allocation of surplus moneys in the Fund, if any.
 10.2.6 the conduct of any investigation or audit of the activities 

of a Member so as to identify and assess risk, to give 
Notice to a Member to take action to minimise risk and to 
report to the Board the outcome of such investigation or 
audit including detail of any Notice given by the Manager 
to a Member and the Member’s response to such Notice.

10.3 The Manager shall be available at all times to LGA, and to the 
Board and to any member of the Board, any member of any 
committee of the Board and the Members to answer any 
questions on the conduct of the activities of the Workers’ 
Scheme.

10.4 The Manager shall be entitled to payment of a Management 
Fee for the performance of its duties.

11.  Duties Of The Board
11.1 The Board shall be responsible to LGA to the extent of 

delegated power and within the ambit of its power the 
duties of the Board shall be:

 11.1.1 to achieve and implement the objectives of the Workers’ 
Scheme;

 11.1.2 to ensure from a financial perspective that the Workers’ 
Scheme is viable;

 11.1.3 to conduct its business in such manner as is resolved by 
the Board from time to time;

 11.1.4 to determine whether to recommend to LGA to admit an 
entity to membership of the Workers’ Scheme;

 11.1.5 to recommend to LGA any changes to the Rules;
 11.1.6 to review the performance and function of the Workers’ 

Scheme.
11.2 The Board shall be responsible to LGA for the financial 

management of the Workers’ Scheme to the extent that  
it shall:

 11.2.1 from time to time undertake an assessment of Members 
or any of them and their activities to assist in the 
determination of the proportion in which the Members 
are to contribute to the Fund in any year and may upon 
the conclusion of any such investigation direct the 
Members as to the procedures to be adopted by them to 
prevent claims or to minimise risks;

 11.2.2 annually prepare the financial statements and, where 
considered necessary, report to LGA and the Members on 
any items arising from those statements;

 11.2.3 be responsible for the assessment of the Members to 
determine the proportion in which they are to contribute 
to the fund in each year.
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 11.2.4 be responsible for the investment of monies of the Fund 
not immediately required and the allocation of surplus 
monies in the Fund.

11.3  The Board shall consider regularly the reports of the  
 Manager in relation to Claims and,

 11.3.1 shall submit its instructions to the Manager as to any 
Claim made against a Member seeking indemnity from 
the Fund; and

 11.3.2 from time to time shall issue instructions to the Manager 
to permit the Manager to process those Claims.

11.4 The Board may establish such committees as it considers 
necessary to be constituted by such persons as the Board 
may determine to investigate and report to the Board on 
any matter relevant to the Workers’ Scheme.

11.5 The Board shall upon receipt of the recommendation of 
the Manager prepare and submit to LGA in and for each 
year during the term of the Workers’ Scheme a budget 
and a financial report which shall deal separately with the 
following items:

 11.5.1 general and administrative costs to be charged against 
the Fund;

 11.5.2 the projected income of the Fund by way of contributions 
interest or other sources;

 11.5.3 the liabilities of the Fund for estimated Claims and Claims 
adjustment costs;

 11.5.4 any grants to be made to a Member or any other person 
or body for any purpose associated with a Claim on a 
Member whenever arising.

11.6 The Board may at its discretion alter the amounts to be 
expended in respect of the items listed in the budget for 
each year where necessary to meet the purposes of the 
Workers’ Scheme;

11.7 Where it becomes apparent to the Board that for any year 
the Fund will be insufficient to meet Claims payable from 
the Fund, the Board should so advise LGA which may at any 
time require the payment by the Members for that year of 
an additional contribution in the same proportions as the 
contribution paid by each of the Members to the Fund for 
that year in order to ensure that all Claims upon the Fund for 
that year are able to be met.

12.  Additional powers of the LGA
12.1 Excess
   Each Member will be liable for the first amount of any Claim 

to be known as the ‘Excess’ which shall be determined 
by LGA. The Excess may be a differential amount for each 
Member and for each Claim or a combination of both.

12.2  Defaulting Member
   LGA may by written notice to a Member in default of 

these Rules exclude that Member from any or a defined 
entitlement to indemnity from the Fund for a particular year 
or years.

12.3 Special Risks
   LGA may by written notice to a Member exclude a Member 

from any or a defined entitlement to indemnity from the 
Fund for a Claim in respect of a ‘special risk’ as determined 
by LGA.

12.4  Other Insurance
   A Member is not entitled to indemnity from the Fund for 

any Claim for which, at the time of the happening of the 
event giving rise to the Claim, the Member was otherwise 
indemnified or insured by or would, but for the existence of 
this Workers’ Scheme be indemnified or insured by any other 
Policy or Policies of Insurance or otherwise, except in respect 
of any liability beyond the amount which would have been 
payable under such other Policy or Policies had this Workers’ 
Scheme not been in existence.
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12.5  Failure to Notify and False Notification
 12.5.1 Where a Member fails to notify the Manager as required 

by Rules 13.1 and 13.3 or breaches Rule 13.2 or submits a 
false claim or provides false information contrary to Rule 
13.4 or fails to comply with any requirement or Notice 
issued pursuant to Clause 15, the LGA may (in lieu of 
terminating the membership of the defaulting Member 
pursuant to Rule 20 and in addition to any other power 
under these Rules) levy an additional contribution to 
be paid by a defaulting Member or remove any benefit 
which may otherwise have accrued to the benefit of the 
Member under these Rules either as a penalty for the 
default or as a condition precedent for the Claim against 
the Member to be considered for indemnity from  
the Fund.

12.5.2  A decision by LGA to levy an additional contribution 
against a Member in default, or to remove any benefit 
in lieu of termination of membership or any other 
sanction, does not preclude LGA from exercising the 
power to terminate the membership of the defaulting 
Member if there is any repeat of the default or failure by 
the Member to adequately address the issue of concern 
identified by LGA (including the payment of the additional 
contribution) or any other relevant performance or risk 
management issue.

13.  Claims procedure
13.1 Notice 

 A Member shall, as a condition precedent for a Claim to be 
indemnified under these Rules and subject to the default 
provisions as a condition of continued entitlement to the 
benefits of membership, forthwith give to the Manager written 
notice of each of the following:

 13.1.1 any circumstance or occurrence of which the Member 
shall become aware or should reasonably be aware which 
is likely to give rise to a Claim;

 13.1.2 receipt of any notice, written or oral, from any person of 
any intention to make a Claim; and

 13.1.3 every Claim whether the quantum of the Claim exceeds 
the Excess or not.

 

13.2 Not admit liability
   A Member shall not admit liability for, compromise, settle 

or make or promise any payment in respect of any Claim 
which may be the subject of indemnity hereunder or incur 
any costs or expenses in connection therewith without the 
written consent of LGA which if it so wishes shall be entitled 
to take over and conduct in the name of the Member the 
defence and/or settlement of any such Claim for which 
purpose the Member shall give all such information and 
assistance as LGA may reasonably require.

13.3  Increase in Risk
   A Member shall forthwith give to LGA full particulars in 

writing of any material increase in the risk of any Claim or 
liability and shall pay such additional contribution and shall 
comply with such other terms and conditions, if any, as may 
be required by LGA in respect of such Claims or liability.

13.4  Fraudulent Claim and False Information
   If a Member shall submit a Claim for indemnity from the 

Fund knowing the claim to be false or fraudulent as regards 
amount or otherwise or shall provide any false information 
with respect to a Claim the entitlement to indemnity from 
the Fund shall become void and all benefits hereunder 
relating to that Claim shall be forfeited.

13.5 Continued support
   During the continuance of any Claim which is to be 

indemnified from the Fund the Member shall provide the 
Board or the Manager with whatever information and 
support (including technical and professional support 
if requested) as is requested to enable the adequate 
investigation defence and resolution of any such Claim.

13.6  Subrogation
   Every Member seeking indemnity from the Fund shall 

by membership of the Workers’ Scheme have agreed to 
subrogate to LGA its rights to investigate, defend and 
resolve any Claim.

13.7  Special Assistance
   Any Member requiring special assistance by way of a grant 

or otherwise to manage any Claim may make written 
application for such to LGA whereupon LGA shall deal with 
the matter and in doing so may request any information 
from the Member and may resolve to refuse the grant or 
make the grant on such terms and conditions as it deems 
appropriate.
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14.  Contributions
14.1 Contributions for each year shall be as determined by LGA 

having regard to any matter which it determines relevant. 
Contributions so determined must be paid by each Member 
as requested by the LGA.

14.2 Contributions once paid by a Member to the Fund shall 
not be recoverable in whole or in part by the Member for 
any reason, including in the event of the expulsion of a 
Member from the Workers’ Scheme, the early termination 
of membership, a decision by LGA not to indemnify a claim 
or to impose a condition for indemnity, or a decision to not 
renew membership of the Workers’ Scheme for any year.

14.3 Contributions by each Member shall be applied by LGA 
at its discretion toward the accumulation of the Fund and 
otherwise in furtherance of the objectives of the Workers’ 
Scheme.

14.4  Contributions for each Member shall be determined by LGA 
from year to year and for the purpose of determining the 
appropriate contribution for each Member the Member 
shall provide LGA, the Board and the Manager such 
information as is required to determine:

 14.4.1 the history of Claims against the Member;
 14.4.2 operating and risk management procedures of the 

Member in all of its activities; and
 14.4.3 any other matter requested by LGA, the Board or the 

Manager.
14.5 Additional contributions for any year may be levied by LGA 

against any Member or Members or all of the Members at 
any time for any of the following reasons:

 14.5.1 to compensate the Fund for the actions of a  
defaulting Member or Members;

 14.5.2 to compensate the Fund for additional risk, non-
compliance with a request resulting in a loss to the Fund, 
or the failure by a Member to abide by a reasonable 
direction of LGA, the Board or Manager;

 14.5.3 to satisfy the requirements of Rule 12.5; and
 14.5.4  any other reason determined by LGA by special resolution 

to be a relevant reason.
 14.6 For the purposes of these Rules the certificate of the 

Manager regarding the cost to the Fund of a default by a 
Member if accepted by LGA shall be final and binding upon 
all Members as the cost to be paid by the Member.

 

14.7 LGA may on the recommendation of the Manager and 
having regard to the advice of an Actuary, operate a ‘bonus/
penalty’ scheme and the Members shall be bound to accept 
such a decision by LGA.

15.  Member’s obligations
15.1 The primary obligation of a Member is to comply strictly 

with the technical requirements, and the spirit and intent of 
the Workers’ Scheme Rules so as to ensure the integrity and 
viability of the Workers’ Scheme which has been established 
as a discretionary mutual indemnity scheme for the benefit 
of all Members.

15.2 In the spirit of mutual obligation every Member must 
not only comply with the technical requirements of the 
Workers’ Scheme Rules and the directions of LGA, the Board 
and/or the Manager but must also respect the spirit and 
intent of the Workers Scheme by ensuring that timely and 
comprehensive notification is given to the Manager of any 
incident, circumstance or matter which may give rise to a 
Claim or be a circumstance or matter which may be a risk 
capable of causing a compensable disability to any person, 
and by ensuring that adequate risk management and 
prevention strategies are put in place so as to absolutely 
minimise the risk of such a claim or compensable disability 
to any person.

15.3 It is also the obligation of every Member to notify the 
Manager in advance of any activity to be undertaken by a 
Member or by any other person on a Member’s premises 
or under a Member’s control or influence which has by 
its nature a risk profile which is different to the risk profile 
of the usual and known activities of the Member, that is, 
usual activities of the Member actually known about by the 
Manager.

15.4 The Manager may at any time undertake a risk management 
audit of a Member’s activities, including those activities 
over which a Member has control or influence, and every 
Member is obliged to fully and honestly assist the Manager 
to conduct such an audit by providing the Manager with all 
information as requested by the Manager and by giving the 
Manager access to all property, premises, records and any 
other material requested by the Manager for the purposes 
of the audit.
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15.5 AMember must modify or cease activities which the Board 
or the Manager determine to by an unacceptable risk 
and about which the Manager has issued a Notice to the 
Member.

15.6  AMember must comply with any Notice given by LGA, the 
Board or the Manager under these Rules.

16.  Financial provisions
16.1 LGA shall in the name of the Workers’ Scheme open an 

account with a Bank of its choice.

16.2 LGA may authorise the Manager to operate the bank 
account.

16.3 All moneys received in respect of the Workers’ Scheme shall 
be immediately deposited to the credit of the bank account.

16.4 The Manager may invest any moneys received and not 
immediately required to meet the liabilities of the Workers’ 
Scheme:

 16.4.1 with the Local Government Finance Authority; of  
South Australia;

 16.4.2 in any security or investment authorised by the Trustee 
Act; or

 16.4.3 in any security or investment authorised by the Local 
Government Act 1999 or prescribed for the purposes of 
that Act.

16.5 LGA may borrow moneys for the objectives of the Workers’ 
Scheme and for that purpose may secure the repayment 
of such loans by granting security over the assets of the 
Workers’ Scheme and the Fund.

16.6 LGA, the Board and the Manager shall keep or- cause to- be 
kept all such accounting records for the Workers’ Scheme 
as fully and- correctly explain the transactions and financial 
position of the Workers’ Scheme.

16.7 The accounting records shall be prepared and maintained in 
such a manner as will enable:

 16.7.1 true and fair accounts of the Workers’ Scheme to be 
prepared from time to time; and

 16.7.2 the accounts of the Workers’ Scheme to be conveniently 
and properly audited annually.

17.  Auditor
17.1 LGA shall appoint an auditor to audit the books of account 

kept in respect of the Workers’ Scheme and the Fund.

17.2 The LGA and the Auditor shall be entitled at all times to 
have access to the accounting and all other records of the 
Workers’ Scheme.

17.3 The Auditor shall audit the Workers’ Scheme’s accounting 
records annually during the currency of the Workers’ 
Scheme or more frequently as LGA may direct.

17.4  The Auditor shall cause a written report to be sent to LGA 
and the Board on the completion of each annual audit in 
respect of the accounting, records of the Workers’ Scheme 
and other records relating to the accounts prepared 
therefrom.

17.5 The Auditor’s report shall state whether in the. Auditor’s 
opinion the accounting records aforesaid have been kept in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
and if the Auditor considers that the records have not been 
so kept the Auditor shall specify the reason for not being 
satisfied with them.

18.  Actuary
18.1 LGA shall appoint an actuary to advise LGA on all aspects of 

the Workers’ Scheme.

18.2 LGA will procure actuarial advice as and when required and 
at least annually for the purpose of preparing the annual 
budget.

18.3 The annual actuarial report will be provided to LGA, the 
Board and the Manager.

19.  Accumulation
   LGA is permitted to accumulate and to retain for purposes 

consistent with these Rules any money or contributions 
from Members in any one or more financial year for any 
purpose consistent with the objectives of the Workers’ 
Scheme.
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20.  Termination of membership
20.1 A Member may terminate membership of the Workers’ 

Scheme at any time by notice in writing to that effect 
delivered to LGA or by failure to pay a contribution, an 
additional contribution, or costs levied by LGA within the 
time prescribed and in such case the Member shall not 
thereafter be entitled to any benefits which may otherwise 
have been forthcoming from the Workers’ Scheme for both 
past, present and future claims.

20.2 A Member which fails to give at least ninety (90) days 
written notice of intention to withdraw from the Workers’ 
Scheme or which otherwise fails to comply with time 
requirements of LGA shall pay to LGA any costs incurred 
by LGA, the Board or the Manager as a result of such failure 
and any such costs may be recovered by LGA against the 
Member as a debt.

20.3 Termination of membership of a Member shall not vary or 
waive the obligations of the continuing Members.

20.4 Termination of membership of any Member shall not affect 
any other Member’s current or subsequent obligation to 
make further contributions for any year nor does it affect 
the terminated Members obligations to make payment 
previously levied at a time when the membership  
was current.

20.5 Membership may be terminated by LGA in the event that a 
Member:

 20.5.1 fails to comply with any Notice issued under these Rules 
or the reasonable directions of LGA, the Board or the 
Manager as to the conduct of its operations so as to 
minimise Claims and the risk of exposure to Claims or 
compensable disability of any person;

 20.5.2 fails to allow and/or accommodate a risk management 
audit to be undertaken by the Manager;

 20.5.3 fails to pay contributions additional contributions, costs 
and penalties within the time prescribed by LGA;

 20.5.4 commences or continues to undertake an activity which 
in the opinion of LGA is an activity which should not 
be undertaken or continued by the Member because 
it creates an unreasonable risk for the Member and the 
Workers’ Scheme;

 20.5.5 conducts its activities in such a way as to put at risk the 
self insurance status of LGA and the Members under  
the Act;

 

 20.5.6 fails to notify LGA of any incident which may give rise to a 
claim or;

 20.5.7 commits any other breach of these Rules, and, such 
termination is effective forthwith upon the decision being 
made by LGA or on such other later date as is determined 
by LGA whereupon the Member is thereafter from the 
date of the decision of LGA not entitled to any benefits of 
Membership under the Workers’ Scheme.

20.6 Termination of membership shall not otherwise affect 
entitlement to indemnity for any Claim already admitted 
to indemnity by virtue of Rule 9 nor vary or waive the 
obligations of the defaulting Member to comply with the 
provisions of the Rules in respect of any year during which 
the defaulting Member was a member of the Workers’ 
Scheme.

20.7 If a Member is in default in payment of a contribution an 
additional contribution or the payment of costs or penalty 
or in any other way so that the Fund suffers or is likely to 
suffer any financial loss or incur additional expense LGA may 
as an alternative to termination under Rule 20.5 require the 
defaulting Member to pay to the Fund an amount to be 
determined by LGA to reimburse the Fund for the loss or 
additional expense. A Certificate of the Manager specifying 
the amount so payable by the defaulting Member shall if 
accepted by LGA be final and binding upon the Member. 
The amount in the Certificate may be recovered against the 
member by LGA as a debt payable by the  
defaulting Member.

20.8 If Member fails to comply with a Notice or direction under 
Rule 20.5, LGA may in its absolute discretion as an alternative 
to termination require the Member to pay an additional 
contribution to the Fund as compensation for the default.

20.9 The LGA may on the recommendation of the Board 
terminate a Member’s membership of the Workers’ Scheme 
at any time during a year.

20.10 A decision by LGA to terminate membership of any 
Member is final and binding on all Members, including the 
terminated Member.

20.11 In any situation where membership is terminated or limited 
LGA shall forthwith provide formal notification of the fact 
to the Minister responsible for Local Government and the 
Minister responsible for Employment Relations.
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21. Determination of disputes other than 
termination of membership

21.1 If any dispute or difference (other than a decision of LGA on 
recommendation of the Board to terminate a membership) 
shall arise between any Member, and LGA, the Board or the 
Manager out of or in connection with the operations of the 
Workers’ Scheme such difference or dispute shall:

 21.1.1 first be referred for resolution to the Executive Director of 
the LGA, the Chief Executive Officer of the Member and 
the Manager, and failing that;

 21.1.2 shall be referred to arbitration in Adelaide by a Solicitor 
or Barrister of the Supreme Court of South Australia 
appointed for this purpose by the President for the time 
being of the Law Society of South Australia, and the 
submission to arbitration and all proceedings thereunder 
shall be subject to the provisions of the Commercial 
Arbitration Act 1986; and

 21.1.3 except where the parties to a dispute otherwise agree in 
advance in writing each party shall bear its own costs and 
each shall pay one half of the fees and expenses of the 
arbitration.

 21.2 The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding 
upon the parties to the arbitration.

22.  Amendment to rules
22.1 These Rules may be amended at any time by LGA.

22.2 Amendments to these Rules shall operate prospectively and 
not retrospectively.

22.3 Notice of any amendment shall be given forthwith to 
all Members and to the Minister responsible for Local 
Government and the Minister responsible for Employment 
Relations.

22.4  Amendments will be binding on all Members from the date 
of their adoption by LGA.

23.  Term of Workers’ Scheme and 
termination

23.1 The Workers’ Scheme will continue until it is terminated by 
an Act of the Parliament of the State of South Australia.

23.2 Upon termination of the Workers’ Scheme, unless the 
Parliament of the State of South Australia determines 
otherwise, the Fund remaining after satisfying all liabilities 
will be paid by LGA for the benefit of the Members at that 
time in such manner as is determined by LGA in its absolute 
discretion for the purpose of minimising the risk of claims 
arising in the future.
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 Council Names
1 Adelaide City Council
2 Adelaide Hills Council
3 Alexandrina Council
4 The Barossa Council
5 District Council of Barunga West
6 Berri Barmera Council
7 City of Burnside
8 Campbelltown City Council
9 District Council of Ceduna
10 City of Charles Sturt
11 Clare & Gilbert Valleys Council
12 District Council of Cleve
13 District Council of Coober Pedy
14 Coorong District Council
15 District Council of Copper Coast
16 District Council of Elliston
17 The Flinders Ranges Council
18 District Council of Franklin Harbour
19 Town of Gawler
20 Goyder Regional Council
21 District Council of Grant
22 City of Holdfast Bay  

(inc. Alwyndor Nursing Home)
23 Kangaroo Island Council
24 District Council of Karoonda East Murray
25 District Council of Kimba
26 Kingston District Council
27 Light Regional Council
28 District Council of Lower Eyre Peninsula
29 District Council of Loxton Waikerie
30 District Council of Mallala
31 City of Marion
32 Mid Murray Council
33 City of Mitcham
34 District Council of Mount Barker

35 City of Mount Gambier
36 District Council of Mount Remarkable
37 Rural City of Murray Bridge (inc. Lerwin 

Nursing Home)
38 Naracoorte Lucindale Council
39 Northern Areas Council
40 City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters
41 City of Onkaparinga
42 District Council of Orroroo/Carrieton
43 District Council of Peterborough
44 City of Playford
45 City of Port Adelaide Enfield
46 Port Augusta City Council (inc. Nerrilda 

Nursing Home)
47 City of Port Lincoln
48 Port Pirie Regional Council
49 City of Prospect
50 Renmark Paringa Council
51 District Council of Robe
52 Municipal Council of Roxby Downs
53 City of Salisbury
54 Southern Mallee District Council
55 District Council of Streaky Bay
56 Tatiara District Council
57 City of Tea Tree Gully
58 District Council of Tumby Bay
59 City of Unley
60 City of Victor Harbor
61 Wakefield Regional Council
62 Town of Walkerville
63 Wattle Range Council
64 City of West Torrens (inc. St Martins Aged  

Care Facility)
65 City of Whyalla
66 Wudinna District Council
67 District Council of Yankalilla
68 Yorke Peninsula Council 
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1. Adelaide Hills Region Waste Management 
Authority

2. Centennial Park Cemetery

3. Central Local Government Association

4. Eastern Health Authority

5. Eastern Waste Management Authority

6. Eyre Peninsula Local Govt Association

7. Fleurieu Regional Waste Authority

8. Local Government Association of SA

9. Local Government Corporate Services

10. Local Government Finance Authority

11. Local Government Managers Australia

12. Local Government Systems Inc

13. Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme

14. Northern Adelaide Waste Management 
Authority

15. Nuriootpa Centennial Park Authority

16. South East Local Government Association

17. Southern Region Waste Management 
Authority

18. Council Solutions Regional Authority

 Prescribed Bodies
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SCHEME STAFF

Rob Edwards - Divisional Manager, Workers 
Compensation Services 

Claims
Jeanette Hullick – Claims Manager / LGA Authorised 
Officer

Matthew Barton – Senior Claims Consultant - 
Technical 

Trevor Beare – Senior Claims Consultant

Rammy Sandhu – Senior Claims Consultant

Maria Silvestri – Senior Claims Consultant

Louise Ward – Senior Claims Consultant

Jenny Bosnakis – Senior Claims Consultant 

Elle Sharp - Claims Consultant

Emily Crabb – Claims Consultant

Rehabilitation
Trudi Ng – Rehabilitation Manager

Gowri Ravikumar – Senior Rehabilitation Consultant

Brenda Moore - Senior Rehabilitation Consultant

Karen McNeeley – Rehabilitation Consultant

Francine Bruzzaniti – Rehabilitation Consultant

Rebecca Wynne - Rehabilitation Consultantnt

WHS 
Stevie Sanders – WHS Manager

Colleen Green – WHS Consultant

Vicky Smith – WHS Consultant

Jodie Wells-Smith - WHS Consultant 

Regional Risk Coordinators 
Alan Walker – Regional Risk Coordinator

Andrew McDonald – Strategic Regional Risk 
Coordinator

Bob Raymond – Regional Risk Coordinator

Carolin Roberts – Regional Risk Coordinator

David Jaunay – Regional Risk Coordinator

 Jo Calliss  – Regional Risk Coordinator

Julie Beaton  – Regional Risk Coordinator

Melissa Cox – Regional Risk Coordinator

Rob Castle - Regional Risk Coordinator

LGAWCS Board Members 
Cr John Ross - Chairman

Mr Mark Searle  – Local Government Association

Mr Stuart Moseley – Office for State/Local 
Government Relations

Mr Tim Jackson– City of Playford

Mr Max Amber – Campbelltown City Council

Mr Bruce Green – Rural City of Murray Bridge

Mr Bill Cinnamond – Public Sector Workforce Division

Mr Charles Mansueto – Mallala Council

Mr Leo Demer – Local Government Risk Services

Mr Gary Okely – Local Government Risk Services
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T (08) 8235 6444

F (08) 8235 6448

1st Floor, 148 Frome St,

Adelaide SA 5000

GPO Box 1693,

Adelaide SA 5001


